## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00601

MICHAEL L. BRIDGE

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN CITY OF OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL.

**APPELLEES** 

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi Cause No. L05-428

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT MICHAEL L. BRIDGE

Oral Argument Requested

Jerry L. Mills Pyle, Mills, Dye & Pittman 800 Avery Blvd. N. Suite 101 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 Telephone: 601-957-2600

Facsimile:

601-957-7440

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00601

MICHAEL L. BRIDGE

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN CITY OF OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL.

**APPELLEES**

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the Circuit Court err in affirming the decision of the Mayor and Board of Aldermen to rezone certain property based upon the following findings:

- 1. That there was a change in the character of the neighborhood.
- 2. That the rezoning was justified based upon a mistake in the original zoning.
- 3. That the rezoning is consistent with Oxford's Comprehensive Plan.

As a result of these findings the following specific issues arise in this appeal.

- 4. Does the lack of change over a thirty-year period constitute a change in the character of the neighborhood to justify rezoning?
- 5. Is ignorance of the provisions of a zoning ordinance the type of mistake which justifies rezoning?
- 6. Is the procedure proposed by Oxford amend the zoning ordinance and then amend the Comprehensive Plan to comply with the zoning ordinance compatible with the requirement that zoning regulations shall be in accordance with the comprehensive plan?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 23, 2005 a group of individuals applied for an amendment to the zoning map of the City of Oxford seeking to rezone certain property owned by the Appellant. (R-596) The Petitioners had no ownership interest in the property sought to be rezoned. (R-596)

The initial public hearing on the Petition was held before the Oxford Planning Commission. A motion to rezone died there for the lack of a second before the planning commission. (R-596). The matter was then appealed to the Mayor and Board of Aldermen.

At the meeting of the Mayor and Board of Aldermen held on October 4, 2005, an ordinance was adopted rezoning the property from RB<sup>1</sup> to R1A<sup>2</sup>. (R-166, 167) The Ordinance was approved based on a motion containing the following findings: "I am basing this motion on substantial public need, changes in the community character and mistakes that were made during the comprehensive planning process regarding this area." (R-184).

Being aggrieved by the rezoning, the property owner appealed to the Circuit Court. The matter was heard by the Court. The Court correctly set forth the following facts in his opinion:

- 1. In 2004, the City adopted its comprehensive plan. Under the plan the north side of Price Street was zoned RB. In May, 2005, Lucy Robinson and others filed a petition with the Oxford Planning Commission requesting a zoning amendment to have a portion of Price Street rezoned from RB (multi-family residential) to RIA (single family residential). The thrust of the petition was that Price Street had remained a traditional single-family residential neighborhood and an error had been made by designating the area RB (multi-family residential) rather than RIA (single-family residential). The matter was heard before the Planning Commission in July, 2005 and died for lack of a motion. R- 1071, RE-8-9.
- 2. The rezoning of Price Street was then presented to the City and was considered at the September 6, 2005, September 20, 2005, and the October 4,2005 meetings. Public comments were received at the September 6 and October 4 meetings. After a third reading, a motion was made to rezone Price Street from its current zoning of RB (multi-family residential) to RIA (single- family residential). The motion was based upon evidence presented at the previous meetings on substantial public need, changes in community character, and mistakes that were made during the comprehensive planning process regarding the Price Street area. The motion was duly seconded and all aldermen present voted for the passage thereof. Alderman Patterson had recused himself and was absent during the vote. Appellant Bridge appealed the decision of the Board of Aldermen to this Court. R-1071. RE-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A two-unit residential use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A single family residential use

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi follows a modified version of the Maryland Rule in rezoning matters.

In order to meet the requirements of that rule as applied in Mississippi the applicant bears the burden of establishing:

- 1. That there was a mistake in the original ordinance or
- 2. That there has been a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood and
  - 3. That there is a public need for the rezoning.

Appellant submits that the Circuit Court erred in finding that this burden was met. The alleged mistake found to exist was that the aldermen simply made a mistake in adopting a comprehensive plan calling for the subject property to be RB<sup>3</sup> and in adopting a zoning ordinance that called for the subject property to remain zoned as it has been since 1971 – RB. The Appellant respectfully submits that the mistake, if any, was one of judgment and not a mere clerical or administrative mistake.<sup>4</sup>

Appellant urges that the Circuit Court erred when it found that there had been a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood. The evidence reflects that the only change over the last third of a century was the construction of one or more duplexes as permitted under the RB zoning classification in place during that time.

Finally, both the courts and legislature of this state require that zoning ordinances be in conformity with a city's comprehensive plan. In October of 2004 the City of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RB is defined in Oxford's comprehensive plan as two-unit residential.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See *Town of Florence v. Sea Lands, Ltd.* 759 So.2d 1221, 1225 (Miss.,2000)This Court has held that "a mistake within the meaning of the law is not a mistake of judgment, but, rather, a clerical or administrative mistake." *City of New Albany v. Ray,* 417 So.2d 550, 552 (Miss.1982).

Oxford adopted a new comprehensive plan. This comprehensive plan followed the dictates of Section 17-1-1 by including a future land use map which graphically depicted the "general distribution and extent of land uses" in the City of Oxford. That map clearly shows the subject property as RB. As of the date this record closed it had not been amended to reflect the zoning action taken in this case. Appellants respectfully submit that the zoning change is incompatible with the future land use portion of the City of Oxford's newly adopted comprehensive plan.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE RE-ZONING WAS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The Supreme Court has long held that zoning ordinances must be in compliance with a municipality's comprehensive plan. The undisputed evidence is that the zoning amendment now before the Court does not comply with the comprehensive plan. While our Supreme Court has always required that planning be done in accordance with a comprehensive plan, it was not until 1988 that the term "Comprehensive Plan" was defined. In that year the legislature defined Comprehensive plan as follows:

- (c) "Comprehensive plan" means a statement of public policy for the physical development of the entire municipality or county adopted by resolution of the governing body, consisting of the following elements at a minimum:
- (i) Goals and objectives for the long-range (twenty (20) to twenty-five (25) years) development of the county or municipality. Required goals and objectives shall address, at a minimum, residential, commercial and industrial development; parks, open space and recreation; street or road improvements; public schools and community facilities.
- (ii) A land use plan which designates in map or policy form the proposed general distribution and extent of the uses of land for residences, commerce, industry, recreation and open space,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The future land use map is contained in the record before the Court. However the map is color-coded. The maps in the record are copied in black and white. A color copy is attached hereto as Exhibit "A". The subject property is circled and noted on Exhibit "A".

public/quasi-public facilities and lands. Background information shall be provided concerning the specific meaning of land use categories depicted in the plan in terms of the following: residential densities; intensity of commercial uses; industrial and public/quasi-public uses; and any other information needed to adequately define the meaning of such land use codes. Projections of population and economic growth for the area encompassed by the plan may be the basis for quantitative recommendations for each land use category.

- (iii) A transportation plan depicting in map form the proposed functional classifications for all existing and proposed streets, roads and highways for the area encompassed by the land use plan and for the same time period as that covered by the land use plan. Functional classifications shall consist of arterial, collector and local streets, roads and highways, and these classifications shall be defined on the plan as to minimum right-of-way and surface width requirements; these requirements shall be based upon traffic projections. All other forms of transportation pertinent to the local jurisdiction shall be addressed as appropriate. The transportation plan shall be a basis for a capital improvements program.
- (iv) A community facilities plan as a basis for a capital improvements program including, but not limited to, the following: housing; schools; parks and recreation; public buildings and facilities; and utilities and drainage. [Emphasis Added] Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1-1.

The element which provides the clearest guidance as to how the comprehensive plan contemplated future development for the subject property is the future land use map. An examination of the future land use map leaves no room for dispute on the issue of whether this zoning change complied with the comprehensive plan. The comprehensive plan contemplates that the land use codified into the zoning ordinances since 1971 would continue.

At the oral argument before the Circuit Court counsel for the City of Oxford had to concede that the comprehensive plan was never amended to comply with the zoning change. Counsel for the City anticipated that if this zoning change is upheld the city would move forward with an amendment to the comprehensive plan to bring it into compliance with the zoning ordinance. (T-16-17). With all due respect Oxford has it backwards. The zoning ordinance is supposed to be in compliance with the

comprehensive plan at the time the zoning ordinance is passed. As of the date the record in this matter closed, Oxford had never amended its comprehensive plan to correct the alleged mistake. Oxford has placed the cart before the horse.

It is important to note that the City of Oxford adopted its comprehensive plan just a year before this rezoning occurred. That comprehensive plan showed the subject property as being expected to develop as RB. To date that comprehensive plan has never been changed. The Supreme Court recently note in reversing a rezoning that "There is a strong presumption, therefore, that a municipality carefully considered its current and future needs when adopting its plan for development. The decision to change such a plan a mere two years after its adoption is suspect." Town of Florence v. Sea Lands, Ltd. 759 So.2d 1221, 1225 (Miss.,2000). Here, the evidence suggests that Oxford simply changed its mind a year after it adopted its comprehensive plan. A year after it adopted a zoning ordinance carrying forward a zoning classification that had been in existence since 1971.

# B. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT REZONING WAS JUSTIFIED ON THE GROUNDS OF MISTAKE.

The Court below erred in finding that rezoning the Appellant's property was justified on the grounds of a mistake in the original zoning. The Court found:

Since the early 1970's, the record indicates that both the north and south sides of Price Street were zoned RB (multi-family residential). When the comprehensive plan was adopted, a majority of the lots on the south side of Price Street were zoned RIA (single family residential) but the north side of Price Street remained RB. The lots on the north and south sides of Price Street are similar, single family houses on small lots. The record is clear that there were similar mistakes in the comprehensive plan where neighborhoods had been incorrectly zoned and these mistakes were subsequently corrected.

It is entirely understandable that in the development of a comprehensive plan of this magnitude mistakes would be made which would require corrections. The Court realizes that in order to reclassify property on the criteria of a mistake in the original zoning that the mistake must not be a mistake of judgment, but rather a clerical or administrative mistake. *Town of Florence Vs. Sea Lands, LTD*, 759 So. 2d 1221 (Miss. 2000).

The Court is of the opinion that the record clearly reflects that the error in failing to rezone the Price Street property as RIA (single family residential) was not a mistake of judgment but one of omission or oversight. The issue of mistake is fairly debatable.

The Appellant respectfully disagrees. It should be noted that in order for the mistake relied on to have occurred, it would have to be repeated, first in the Comprehensive Plan and then again in the Zoning Ordinance. Essentially, this line of reasoning would justify a new basis for rezoning. Henceforth an alderman would be able to assert that he or she was ignorant of the terms of a zoning ordinance and claim they made a mistake in their original vote. The Supreme Court has refused to alter legislation based on a claim of ignorance. In *Dugger v. Board of Sup'rs of Panola County* 104 So. 459, 464 (Miss. 1925) the Court said: "For it must be presumed that the Legislature has declared its entire will, otherwise there must be imputed to them gross carelessness or ignorance. Sedgwick on Statutes, 429."

The argument of the proponents of the rezoning succinctly states a critical issue in this case. They claim "IGNORANCE OF WHAT YOU ARE VOTING ON IS NOT A MISTAKE OF JUDGMENT" If indeed this becomes the law an important principle of zoning law in this state will be abrogated. In Mayor and Com'rs of City of Jackson v. Wheatley Place, Inc. 468 So.2d 81, 83 (Miss., 1985) the Supreme Court said:

In the absence of agreement between all interested parties, an amendment to a zoning ordinance is not meant to be easy. Otherwise, it would be a meaningless scrap of paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Argument of counsel for the petitioners for the rezoning. T-21-22.

See also: Town of Florence v. Sea Lands, Ltd.,759 So. 2d 1221, 1229 (Miss.2000).

In City of New Albany v. Ray 417 So.2d 550, 552 (Miss.,1982) the Supreme Court rejected essentially the same argument as is being made here by the City of Oxford.

The Court said:

Appellee originally requested that the property be zoned A-1, and some members of the Zoning and Planning Commission may not have realized the full import of the zoning classification. One such representative testified that it was a mistake to zone the property A-1. However, a mistake within the meaning of the law is not a mistake of judgment, but, rather, a clerical or administrative mistake.

The City's argument, we suggest, is directly counter to the presumption of correctness that zoning ordinances enjoy. In this case the record reflects the following statement of Alderman Antonow regarding a claim of mistake:

We changed the zoning of the property directly across the street. It was RB, and we changed it to RN. So we upgraded the zoning in all the property adjacent to this property that's up for rezoning, and yet we overlooked that strip of houses on Price Street.

And I apologize. I feel that – like some of the rest of us do, that we dropped the ball. If I had seen this, I would have never have allowed an RB zoning to be sandwiched between RA an RE. It doesn't even make any sense. R-55

The argument and proof presented in support of the claim of a mistake is precisely the same the Supreme Court has previously rejected. In *Martinson v. City of Jackson* 215 So.2d 414, 416 (Miss. 1968) the Supreme Court said:

Proponents of the change testified that when the general zoning ordinance was adopted in 1950 the area involved was similar to surrounding or adjacent areas classified A-1 and concluded therefrom that there was 'manifestly' an error or mistake in zoning the subject property as A-2.

There was no proof that such an error or mistake was made in the original zoning but proponents rested on the conclusion that it must have been a mistake.

We cannot know the reason for such zoning but since the area is in the immediate vicinity of Belhaven College can surmise as to the reason. However, the officials so zoning cannot be presumed to have made a mistake; the presumption is to the contrary. The aforesaid evidence would not overcome this presumption of correctness, and, as stated, was merely a conclusion.

The lower court in this case incorrectly concluded that a mistake had been made based in large part by examination of nearby zoning. This is exactly what is prohibited in *Martinson*, supra.

It is clear that if a mistake was made by members of the Board of Aldermen it was either:

- 1. The didn't know what they were voting for, or
- 2. The changed their minds about how they should have voted.

Neither is a mistake which would justify a rezoning. If this Court adopts as law the proposition that ignorance of what an alderman is voting for is a mistake justifying rezoning, it will indeed become easy to rezone. *Town of Florence v. Sea Lands, Ltd.*,759 So. 2d 1221, 1229 (Miss.2000). Zoning ordinances will become a meaningless scrap of paper. Little more than elected officials not doing their jobs will have to be shown.

## C. THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT A FINDING OF CHANGE IN THE CHARACTER OF THE NEIGHBORHOOD

The lower court found:

Since 1971 until the adoption of the comprehensive plan in 2004, the north and south sides of Price Street had been zoned RB (multi family residential). Price Street did not evolve into a multi-family development as contemplated by the RB zoning designation in 1971. It should be noted, however, that the RB and RIA zoning designations have the same density, i.e., RIA - 7500 square feet for one

single family dwelling; RB - 15,000 square feet for a two family dwelling. The Appellant Bridge submits that Price Street is a collector street designed to use and move vehicular traffic between North Lamar and Molly Barr Street. The street provides direct access to the city's activity center, tennis courts, and ball fields, as well as the Middle School, Stone Park and swimming pool. It is also the position of the Appellant that it is customary in land use design for higher density land uses to adjoin higher capacity transportation routes, while lower density land uses should be more remotely located to the transportation routes. Nevertheless, Price Street has continued as a moderate single-family residential neighborhood with small houses located on small lots.

The Court is of the opinion that the record presents clear and convincing evidence that there has been a change in the Price Street neighborhood since the original zoning ordinance of 1971 and the issue of change is fairly debatable.

Appellant respectfully suggests that this finding is error both factually and legally. First, the Court utilized the wrong point in time against which change should be measured. In *Coleman v. Southwood Realty Co.* 271 So.2d 742, 743 (Miss. 1973) the Mississippi Supreme Court provide direct guidance as to the time to be considered in dealing with the issue of change in the character of the neighborhood. The Court said:

In order to justify a rezoning order, Coleman was required either to show that there was a mistake in the original ordinance or that the area has changed sufficiently since the last comprehensive amendment to the zoning ordinance to warrant the reclassification. City of Jackson v. Sheppard Inv. Co., 185 So.2d 675 (Miss.1966); Currie v. Ryan, 243 So.2d 48 (Miss.1971).

Second, the evidence does not support a finding of change in the character of the neighborhood. There is no better description of the lack of change in the character of the neighborhood than is contained in the City's brief to the Circuit Court. The City of Oxford correctly stated:

The Price Street neighborhood was originally zoned RB in 1971. Apparently, despite the single-family use then in place, the City fathers felt that the neighborhood's use would be changed to a use where multifamily dwellings would be present and desirable. Instead, despite the RB zoning to allow a more dense use, the Price Street neighborhood continued to consist entirely of single-family houses for over thirty years.

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