IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00601

MICHAEL L. BRIDGE

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT,

vs.

MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN CITY OF OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL.

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES,

and

LUCY LYNN ROBINSON, MARY SUE ROBINSON, and RALPH COLEMAN

INTERVENORS.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

POPE S. MALLETTE PAUL B. WATKINS, JR. Attorneys for the City of Oxford MAYO MALLETTE PLLC 5 University Office Park 2094 Old Taylor Road Post Office Box 1456 Oxford, Mississippi 38655 Telephone: (662) 236-0055 Facsimile: (662) 236-0035

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

 $^{12}Id.$

÷

i

i

¹³Id.; see also Gillis v. City of McComb, 860 So. 2d 833, 835 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).
¹⁴Gillis, 860 So. 2d at 836.

¹⁵Id. (citing Briarwood, Inc. v. City of Clarksdale, 766 So. 2d 73, 80 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)).
¹⁶City of Ridgeland, 963 So. 2d at 1214; Gillis, 860 So. 2d at 835-36.
¹⁷Id. at 836-37.

there was a public need for re-zoning."¹⁸ The applicant bears the "initial burden" of showing one of these two prongs by clear and convincing evidence.¹⁹ When considering the factual issues involved in a re-zoning petition, Board members may "consider not only information obtained at the hearing but also their own common knowledge and the familiarity with the ordinance area."²⁰ Mississippi courts have "recognized the duty of municipal zoning authorities, acting legislatively, to assess their needs by 'looking out the window' and acting on the basis of what they see happening in their community."²¹

B. The City was not required to amend its Comprehensive Plan prior to re-zoning the Price Street Property.

Bridge argues that the City's decision to re-zone the north side of Price Street was improper because the re-zoning "does not comply with the comprehensive plan."²² Bridge's only support for this contention is the fact that the future land use map that was part of the City's 2004 Plan "clearly shows the subject property as RB."²³ Because the re-zoning is consistent with the stated goals of the Plan, and because the City was not required to amend its future land use plan before it amended its zoning ordinances, this argument must fail.

¹⁹Cockrell v. Panola County Bd. of Supervisors, 950 So. 2d 1086, 1092 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

²⁰Faircloth v. Lyles, 592 So. 2d 941, 943 (Miss. 1991).

²¹McWaters, 591 So. 2d at 828 (quoting Luter v. Hammon, 529 So.2d 625, 629 (Miss. 1988)).
²²Appellant's Brief, at 4.

 23 *Id*.

¹⁸Kuluz v. City of D'Iberville, 890 So. 2d 938, 940 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (quoting Board of Aldermen, City of Clinton v. Conerly, 509 So. 2d 877, 883 (Miss. 1987)).

One of the primary objectives of the Plan was to "[p]rotect the physical character and social fabric of Oxford's neighborhoods."²⁴ The Plan further stated that "the neighborhoods that surround the Square or touch the Ole Miss campus" were "[o]f particular concern²⁵ The re-zoned property falls within this "Neighborhood Conservation Zone.²⁶ The first "guiding principle" considered in the implementation of the Plan was a directive to "[r]ecognize Oxford's historic ways of town building and use those traditions to provide a framework for future growth.²⁷ The Plan also stated that:

[t]he residential neighborhoods adjacent the Square, the Central Business District and the University are the oldest, most historically important residential areas of the community. They are a significant asset in defining the character of Oxford and yet they are the most vulnerable. Demand for off-campus housing and pressure for expansions at the edge of the business district threaten these neighborhoods with development conversions, increased traffic and other associated impacts.²⁸

The record is replete with evidence that the City's decision to re-zone the subject property was in keeping with these principles.²⁹ At the very least, the issue of whether the City's decision to re-zone was in keeping with the principles espoused in its Comprehensive Plan is fairly debatable.

²⁴R. at 980.

²⁵Id.

²⁶R. at 981. Price Street runs east and west in the northwestern-most corner of this Zone.

²⁷R. at 976.

²⁸R. at 979.

²⁹For example, Alderman Jon Fisher, who made the motion to re-zone the property, stated that the re-zoning would "protect the single family character of Oxford." R. at 428. Alderman Ulysses Howell stated that the City "should protect old neighborhoods like" the Price Street neighborhood. R. at 429. Alderman Preston Taylor stated that his support for the motion was in the interest of "preserving the neighborhoods" R. at 431.

Furthermore, there is no principle of legislative or judicial law that requires municipalities to amend their comprehensive plans (or, more specifically, their future land use maps) prior to hearing a petition for re-zoning. While the City concedes that it has not yet corrected the zoning error on its future land use map, the City effects changes to its zoning designations through amendment to its *ordinances*, not its Plan.³⁰ On a practical level, it is hardly surprising that the City would elect to wait until Bridge's appeal was resolved before engaging its consultants to correct the Plan and the future land use map.³¹ Despite Bridge's colorful (yet vague) warning that "Oxford has placed the cart before the horse", the proposition that the City may not re-zone without first amending its Plan is unsupportable.

Bridge further argues that the City's decision is rendered invalid by the fact that it was made just a year after the Plan was adopted, citing *Town of Florence v. Sea Lands, Ltd.*³² Nothing in *Town of Florence*, however, suggests that the City may not correct mistakes contained in its Plan at any time after their discovery. If the City has the authority to re-zone certain property that was mistakenly designated, it certainly has the authority to correct a Comprehensive Plan and a future land use map that contain the same mistake. Bridge's argument to the contrary lacks merit.

C. The Circuit Court did not err in holding that the issue of mistake was fairly debatable.

Bridge argues that the mistake that was made during the original 2004 zoning was not "a

í

ţ

1

³¹Bridge's intentions to appeal any decision to re-zone were clear from his threats of litigation during the Board's consideration of the potential re-zoning. R. at 182.

³²759 So. 2d 1221 (Miss. 2000).

³⁰See R. at 166-67.

mistake that would justify a re-zoning.³³ This argument must fail. It is true that, in Mississippi, "a mistake within the meaning of the law is not a mistake of judgment, but, rather, a clerical or administrative mistake.³⁴ As the Circuit Court correctly held, however, the error raised by the petitioners and relied upon by the City was not such a mistake of judgment.³⁵ The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that a re-zoning based on a mistake is proper when the record shows that the original zoning classification was not consistent with the actual use of the subject property.³⁶ The issue of whether a "clerical or administrative" mistake existed in the 2004 Plan is fairly debatable. In fact, the minutes of the July 18, 2005 meeting of the Oxford Planning Commission reflect that Bridge stated that the matter arose because of "an administrative mistake."³⁷

Bridge glibly argues that "if a mistake was made by members of the Board of Aldermen it was either: (1) The [sic] didn't know what they were voting for, or (2) The [sic] changed their minds about how they should have voted."³⁸ The first part of this argument is a red herring - if a zoning authority knowingly approves of a "mistake" in its comprehensive plan, it is not a mistake at all. Bridge's refrain that the Board was "ignorant" of the contents of the Plan is partially correct - the City was ignorant of the fact it had made an error. While it is certainly true that a City's zoning

³⁴Town of Florence v. Sea Lands, Ltd., 759 So. 2d 1221, 1225 (Miss. 2000) (quoting City of New Albany v. Ray, 417 So. 2d 550, 552 (Miss. 1982)).

³⁵R. at 1073.

³⁶*Faircloth*, 592 So. 2d at 944.

³⁷R. at 390.

³⁸Appellant's Brief, at 9.

³³Appellant's Brief, at 9.

ordinances carry a presumption of validity and accuracy, that presumption is rebuttable.³⁹ If the presumption were not subject to rebuttal, Mississippi counties and municipalities would be unable to correct zoning errors at all. Our Supreme Court has long held that a municipality has a "*duty* ... to correct a [zoning] mistake that it had formerly made".⁴⁰

The second part of Bridge's argument - that Board members simply "changed their minds" about the zoning on Price Street - is flatly contradicted by the record. Evidence and testimony was presented showing that the twenty lots included in the petition for re-zoning are used for single-family residences and have been so used for many years.⁴¹ As noted above, a zoning authority may properly re-zone upon a finding that the zoning classification is not consistent with the subject property's actual use. Because there is substantial evidence in the record to support a finding that an RB classification was inconsistent with the subject property's long-time actual use for single-family residences, the issue of mistake is fairly debatable.

The record reflects that, but for an administrative mistake, the strip of land in question would have been zoned R1A rather than RB. During the consideration of the petition for re-zoning, several aldermen who were involved in the original consideration of the Plan noted that the RB zoning was a mistake. Alderman Janice Antonow noted that the RB zoning did not match the property's actual use, stating that: "[i]f I had seen this, I never would have allowed an RB zoning to be sandwiched between RA and RE. It doesn't even make any sense."⁴² Alderman Ulysses Howell stated that "if

⁴²R. at 55.

³⁹See Town of Florence, 759 So. 2d at 1225.

⁴⁰Dicks v. City of Natchez, 319 So. 2d 214, 217 (Miss. 1975) (emphasis added).

⁴¹R. at 861-62; 1032-33.

I had known that this was zoned like this, I would never - - would never have went and I'm willing to - - when the time come, I'm willing to make the motion to re-zone it."⁴³

Alderman Jon Fisher discussed six other areas within the City boundaries that were "downzoned" in order to "protect the single family character of Oxford" in accordance with the Plan.⁴⁴ Alderman Fisher further stated that:

The neighborhoods that we down-zoned, for the most part, we did so because the homes there or the structures there did not comply with the zoning, single family homes in a multi-family zone. ... We should have done the same thing to Price Street.⁴⁵

Bridge cites *Town of Florence* and *City of New Albany v. Ray*⁴⁶ for the proposition that the City's decision to re-zone part of the Price Street neighborhood is based on a "mistake of judgment".⁴⁷ In *Town of Florence*, the "mistake" cited by the Town as justification for a re-zoning was a "failure to follow statutory requirements" in the original zoning.⁴⁸ In *City of New Albany*, the only evidence in the record as to mistake was a suggestion that "some members of the Zoning and Planning Commission may not have realized the full import of the zoning classification."⁴⁹ Neither of these situations is applicable here. The City did not rely upon procedural deficiencies as the "mistake" that justified re-zoning (and there is no suggestion that there were any such deficiencies

⁴³54.

⁴⁴R. at 52.

⁴⁵R. at 52-53.

⁴⁶417 So. 2d 550 (Miss. 1982).

⁴⁷Appellant's Brief, at 3, 7, 8.

⁴⁸759 So. 2d at 1225.

⁴⁹417 So. 2d at 552.

in the original zoning process). Furthermore, the record does not indicate that the Board was unaware of the import of the RB classification, but rather that its members were unaware that the RB classification had survived the zoning process.

Upon reviewing the evidence and testimony before it, the Board concluded that there was sufficient evidence to conclude that the RB zoning classification of the subject property in 2004 was the result of an administrative oversight. This mistake is not *presumed* in the absence of evidence, as Bridge would have the Court believe. The record contains substantial evidence of an *actual* mistake and a resulting inconsistency between the Plan and the zoning on Price Street. The City's attempt to correct the error and bring its ordinance in line with the tenets of its Plan do not render the ordinance a "meaningful scrap of paper", and it is certainly not evidence of "elected officials not doing their jobs".⁵⁰ To the contrary, Oxford's elected officials have admitted their mistake and now seek to perform their duties by correcting it.

Bridge paints a picture of a slippery slope and warns that, if the City is allowed to correct its error, "it will indeed become easy to re-zone."⁵¹ The City respectfully submits that, when errors are discovered in a comprehensive plan and/or a zoning ordinance, the courts should not place obstacles in the path of a zoning authority which would see them corrected. The law does not shackle the City to its prior errors - it is for that precise reason that an administrative mistake is one of the two limited justifications upon which a municipality may rely in re-zoning property.

⁵¹Id.

⁵⁰Appellant's Brief, at 9.

D. The Circuit Court did not err in holding that the issues of substantial change and public need were fairly debatable.

While the primary basis for the City's decision to re-zone the Price Street property was the mistake in the original zoning ordinance, the Circuit Court also held that the issues of change in character and public need were fairly debatable. Bridge correctly states that land use in accordance with an original zoning plan is not a sufficient change in the character of a neighborhood to justify a re-zoning. However, as discussed above, the classification of part of the Price Street neighborhood as RB in 2004 was due to an administrative mistake on the City's part. As indicated by the evidence and testimony in the record, the property was supposed to be zoned R1A after the adoption of the Plan.

The record reflects that Cowart Properties applied for site plan approval by the Oxford Planning Commission in July 2005 for the construction of six (6) multi-unit condominiums at 317 Price Street.⁵² This parcel of property was not included in the petition for re-zoning because it was in a planning phase for development.⁵³ In light of the mistake contained in the Plan, the planning and development of six multi-family residences in this traditionally single-family neighborhood constitutes a "change in character" sufficient to justify the City's re-zoning of the subject property. The Supreme Court has held that such a substantial change need not be "drastic".⁵⁴

With respect to public need, this Court recently recognized that "substantial weight could be given to the concerns of [a City's] citizenry in determining whether a public need exists for re-

⁵³R. at 596.

1

⁵⁴McWaters v. City of Biloxi, 591 So. 2d at 828.

⁵²R. at 117-18.

zoning.³⁵⁵ In addition to the numerous concerned citizens who signed and/or approved the application for re-zoning,⁵⁶ residents (individually and through counsel) expressed their strong desire for the re-zoning to take place in order to preserve the neighborhood.⁵⁷ Furthermore, the overall objectives espoused by the Plan provided a basis upon which the Board could reasonably have relied to find a public need for the re-zoning at issue.⁵⁸ It can not be disputed that substantial evidence existed to support a finding of public need, and Bridge does not dispute the existence of this evidence. The issue of public need is fairly debatable.

E. There is no appearance of impropriety on the part of any City official.

Bridge states that a duplex has been constructed on the Price Street property of an Oxford alderman.⁵⁹ This is false. As the City has pointed out before, Alderman George Patterson sold his interest in the subject property in June 2005, before the Planning Commission completed its hearings on the issue and before the Board ever heard the petition.⁶⁰ Furthermore, Alderman Patterson recused himself each time the issue was considered by the Board.⁶¹ The insinuation of some unspecified impropriety on the part of Alderman Patterson, the Board, or the City is baseless and should be ignored by this Court.

⁵⁷R. at 35-49.

i

ţ

ţ

ί

1

⁵⁸See supra footnotes 24-28 and accompanying text.

⁵⁹Appellant's Brief, at 11.

⁶⁰The deed of sale for the property was not included in the Bill of Exceptions, but is a matter of public record.

⁶¹R. at 22, 147, 166.

⁵⁵City of Ridgeland v. Estate of Lewis, 963 So. 2d 1210, 1216 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

⁵⁶R. at 596-618.

F. Bridge has waived any argument regarding spot zoning.

In his briefs to the Circuit Court, Bridge argued that the exclusion of the land formerly owned by Alderman Patterson and a lot owned by the City from the re-zoning constituted spot zoning. The Circuit Court correctly found these arguments to be without merit. Bridge has chosen not to raise the issue of spot zoning in his appeal to this Court and, thus, has waived those arguments.

CONCLUSION

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